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 A jury found appellant Dean William Hale guilty of numerous sexual offenses 

involving three young female victims.  Appellant raises a number of related claims on 

appeal based upon his contention that a 10-year statute of limitations applies to a violation 

of Penal Code
1
 section 269 for aggravated sexual assault upon a child.  He also contends 

that the evidence was insufficient to support a conviction of forcible sodomy (§ 286, subd. 

(c)(2)), that evidence of a prosecution witness‟s prior theft conviction was improperly 

excluded, and that the prosecutor committed misconduct by making improper arguments, 

denigrating defense counsel, vouching for a prosecution witness, and mischaracterizing the 

evidence.  We find no merit in appellant‟s contentions and shall affirm the judgment. 

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 

Procedural History 

 In a 58-count second amended information filed October 19, 2009, the Contra Costa 

County District Attorney charged appellant with 42 counts of lewd acts on a child under 

                                              

  Pursuant to California Rules of Court, rules 8.1105(b) and 8.1110, this opinion is 

certified for publication with the exception of parts III and IV of the Discussion. 
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age 14 (§ 288, subd. (a)), one count of sexual penetration of a child under age 14 (§ 289, 

subd. (j)), two counts of forcible sodomy (§ 286, subd. (c)(2)), six counts of aggravated 

sexual assault of a child (§ 269, subds. (a)(1) & (3)), four counts of sexual acts with a child 

10 years or younger (§ 288.7), and three counts of forcible lewd acts on a child under age 

14 (§ 288, subd. (b)(1)).  Jane Doe No. 1 was the alleged victim in counts 1 through 30, 

Jane Doe No. 2 was the alleged victim in counts 31 through 34, and Jane Doe No. 3 was 

the alleged victim in counts 35 through 58.  The district attorney further alleged in the 

information that appellant committed the offenses against more than one victim (§ 667.61, 

subd. (c)) and that the prosecution of sex crimes allegedly committed against Jane Doe 

No. 2 and Jane Doe No. 3 had commenced within the applicable statute of limitations 

pursuant to sections 801.1 and 803, subdivision (f).  

 By agreement of the parties, the court granted a defense motion to dismiss two 

charged counts of lewd acts on a child under age 14 (§ 288, subd. (a)) allegedly committed 

against Jane Doe No. 2.  A jury found appellant guilty of the remaining counts.  The jury 

also found the multiple victim enhancement to be true.  

 The court sentenced appellant to an indeterminate prison term of 325 years to life.  

The court also imposed a consecutive determinate term of eight years, comprising the 

upper term for the conviction of sexual penetration of a child under 14 (§ 289, subd. (j)).   

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal.  

General Background 

 Lisa V. is the mother of Jane Doe No. 1, Jane Doe No. 2, and Jane Doe No. 3.  Jane 

Doe No. 2 and Jane Doe No. 3 have the same father.  Appellant is the father of Jane Doe 

No. 1.  

 Appellant met Lisa and her two oldest daughters, Jane Doe No. 2 and Jane Doe 

No. 3, on Mother‟s Day in 1995 or 1996.  At the time, Jane Doe No. 3 was 10 years old 

and Jane Doe No. 2 was 8 years old.  Lisa and appellant became friends and, according to 

Lisa, had sex on one occasion, resulting in her becoming pregnant.   After Lisa became 

pregnant, she and appellant moved into a house together on C Street in Antioch.  Lisa 
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worked the graveyard shift while appellant, who was a truck driver, stayed home with her 

daughters.  

 Jane Doe No. 1 was born on March 26, 1997.  When Jane Doe No. 1 was around 

eight months old, Lisa and her daughters moved out of the C Street house after the 

relationship between Lisa and appellant deteriorated.  Lisa and her daughters moved into 

unit 10 of the apartment complex in which they had previously resided.  Around that time 

period, Jane Doe No. 2 and Jane Doe No. 3 continued to visit with appellant on weekends.  

 Following her split from appellant, Lisa started dating a man named Calvin.  She 

became pregnant with his child and gave birth to Calvin Jr. approximately two and a half 

years after Jane Doe No. 1 was born.  Around the same time, Jane Doe No. 3, who was 14 

years old, stopped visiting appellant.  When Jane Doe No. 2 was around 13 years old, 

during the time the family lived in unit 10, she complained of stomachaches and eventually 

ran away from home.  Jane Doe No. 2 was not in contact with her mother for about a year 

and a half.  She started visiting her mother periodically after that but never returned to live 

permanently with Lisa.  

 In 2002, Lisa moved to unit 155 in an apartment complex across the street from the 

unit 10 apartment along with Calvin, Calvin Jr., and Jane Doe No. 1.  By that time, Jane 

Doe No. 2 had run away and was living on the streets.  About a year and a half after 

moving into unit 155, Calvin moved out after he and Lisa broke up.  Lisa‟s mother and 

Jane Doe No. 3 moved into unit 155 after Calvin left.  

 While the family was living in unit 155, Jane Doe No. 1 visited regularly with 

appellant unless he was out of town on a long-haul trucking job.  Appellant moved into 

unit 155 for a few months after his mother died.  

 At some point in 2006, the family moved to a house on Buck Mountain Court in 

Antioch.  Jane Doe No. 1 continued to visit regularly with appellant while the family 

resided at the house on Buck Mountain Court.  In late 2007, appellant stayed at the Buck 

Mountain Court house for approximately six months because he was suffering from a 

medical problem.  
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 At the end of 2007 and the beginning of 2008, Jane Doe No. 2 was staying with 

Lisa at the house on Buck Mountain Court.  Lisa overheard several arguments between 

Jane Doe No. 2 and appellant during which Jane Doe No. 2 would say things such as, “At 

least I don‟t touch my daughter.”  Lisa asked Jane Doe No. 2 what she meant, but Jane 

Doe No. 2 would not say.   

 Around the same time, appellant began custody proceedings against Lisa in an 

attempt to gain custody of his daughter, Jane Doe No. 1.  On February 10, 2008, Jane Doe 

No. 2 finally told her mother that appellant had been molesting her and her sisters.  Lisa 

called the police on February 11, 2008.  Appellant was ultimately arrested on April 14, 

2008.  

Jane Doe No. 3 (Counts 35-58) 

 The first time appellant acted inappropriately towards Jane Doe No. 3 occurred 

when she was 11 years old.  At the time, appellant was living with Lisa and her daughters 

in the house on C Street.  Appellant was taking a bath and called Jane Doe No. 3 and Jane 

Doe No. 2 into the bathroom.  Appellant opened the shower curtain and asked, “[Do] you 

want to look at it?”  Jane Doe No. 3 ran out of the bathroom after appellant showed them 

his penis.  

 About a week later, appellant began rubbing Jane Doe No. 3‟s back and then 

“slowly [went] to the front” and rubbed her breasts while she was in bed.  On other 

occasions, appellant got on top of Jane Doe No. 3, held her down on the bed, and fondled 

her breasts and vagina over her clothes.   

 Appellant moved back to his old house after he broke up with Lisa.  Following the 

break-up, Jane Doe No. 3 visited appellant five or six times a month for about a year.  It 

was during this time that appellant began fondling Jane Doe No. 3 both over and under her 

clothes.  She tried to push his hands away but he persisted.  During this time period, he 

touched her breasts under her clothes between 25 and 30 times, and he touched her vagina 

under her clothes between 15 and 20 times.   

 When Jane Doe No. 3 was 12 or 13 years old, appellant moved into an apartment in 

the same apartment complex in which she was living.  She was visiting appellant once or 
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twice a week at the time.  It was around this time that appellant starting having sexual 

intercourse with Jane Doe No. 3.  On the first occasion, appellant called her into his 

bedroom, told her they would watch TV, made her lay down on the bed, started touching 

her, got on top of her, and took her clothes off.  Appellant put his penis in her vagina.  

Afterward, appellant said if she told anyone that he would take her away and hurt her 

mother and family.  Appellant had sexual intercourse with Jane Doe No. 3 approximately 

15 to 20 times, up until she was 14 years old and stopped visiting him.  Jane Doe No. 3 

physically resisted appellant on four or five occasions but otherwise “just let him do it and 

get it over with.”  On one occasion, appellant pushed her down, took her pants off, and 

sodomized her.   

Jane Doe No. 2 (Counts 31-34) 

 Jane Doe No. 2 recalled an incident in which appellant called her and Jane Doe 

No. 3 into the bathroom at the C Street house.  He was taking a bath and asked the girls if 

they wanted to touch his penis.  They both touched it, according to Jane Doe No. 2.  

 After Lisa and her daughters moved into an apartment, Jane Doe No. 2 and Jane 

Doe No. 3 continued visiting appellant at his house.  When Jane Doe No. 2 was nine, 

appellant asked if he could put his penis inside of her.  After putting Vaseline on his penis 

and her vagina, he started to put his penis in her vagina.  Jane Doe No. 2 told him it hurt, 

but appellant said it would hurt for just a minute and then it would not hurt anymore.  

Appellant stopped after Jane Doe No. 2 jerked away.  Appellant told her not to tell anyone 

or she would not see her family again.   

 During subsequent visits, appellant asked Jane Doe No. 2 to touch or suck his penis.  

She refused.  On one occasion when Jane Doe No. 2 was nine, she got out of the shower 

and entered the bedroom.  She saw appellant and Jane Doe No. 3 in bed together with a 

blanket covering them.  Appellant was on top of Jane Doe No. 3.  It appeared to Jane Doe 

No. 2 that they were having sex.  Appellant told her to go back to the shower and that he 

would let her know when to come out.   

 On one occasion when Jane Doe No. 2 was 19 years old, she visited her mother.  

She and Jane Doe No. 3 were sleeping in the living room.  At around midnight, she heard 
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noises from her mother‟s bedroom.  She woke up Jane Doe No. 3, and they went to 

investigate the noises coming from the bedroom.  Upon opening the door, they saw 

appellant in bed on top of Jane Doe No. 1.
2
  Jane Doe No. 3 took Jane Doe No. 1 to the 

front room.  Jane Doe No. 2 told appellant she was going to call the police.  Appellant tried 

to grab the phone and told them he was sorry, that he needed help, and that he would not 

do it again.  Appellant also told Jane Doe No. 2 that if she called the police, he would 

make sure they never saw their mother again.  Jane Doe No. 2 did not call the police.  

 When she was around 20 years old, Jane Doe No. 2 was staying with her mother at 

the house on Buck Mountain Court.  On February 10, 2008, she was talking with her 

mother about the custody case appellant had initiated.  Her boyfriend, whom she referred 

to as the father of her children, was also present.  The boyfriend encouraged her to tell her 

mother what appellant had done to her and her sisters.  He said he would tell if she refused.  

Jane Doe No. 2 then told her mother about the molestation.  

Jane Doe No. 1 (Counts 1-29) 

 Jane Doe No. 1 visited appellant at his house when she was six or seven years old.  

He asked her to touch his penis.  She complied.  Subsequently, at appellant‟s request, Jane 

Doe No. 1 masturbated him until he ejaculated.  He had her touch his penis more than 20 

times during the year she visited him at his house.  He also fondled her vagina more than 

20 times during that period.   

 When appellant was living with Lisa‟s family at the unit 155 apartment, he had 

sexual intercourse with Jane Doe No. 1 more than 25 times.  He also had her masturbate 

him 20 to 25 times during that time period.  According to Jane Doe No. 1, when she was 

seven years old appellant was engaged in sexual intercourse with her when Jane Doe No. 2 

and Jane Doe No. 3 entered the room and pulled her away from appellant.  

 The family moved into the house on Buck Mountain Court when Jane Doe No. 1 

was around eight or nine years old.  During the period that appellant lived with the family 

in that house, he had sexual intercourse “maybe a little more than 25 times” with Jane Doe 
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  According to Jane Doe No. 3, Jane Doe No. 1 was on top of appellant.  
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No. 1, fondled her 20 times, and had her masturbate him about 20 times.  On one occasion, 

he sodomized her at the Buck Mountain Court house.   

 Appellant moved out of the Buck Mountain Court house when Jane Doe No. 1 was 

nine or ten years old.  Jane Doe No. 1 continued to visit appellant after he moved out.  

During these visits, appellant had sexual intercourse with Jane Doe No. 1 a total of “a little 

more than 25 times.”  On about 10 occasions, appellant parked his truck by the waterfront 

and had sexual intercourse with Jane Doe No. 1 in the truck‟s sleeper cab.  

 When she was seven or eight years old, Jane Doe No. 1 started telling her family 

that she did not want to visit with appellant.  According to her mother, Jane Doe No. 1 

often complained of stomachaches when the family lived in the unit 155 apartment.  Jane 

Doe No. 1 never told anyone about the molestation because appellant told her not to tell or 

else he would get in trouble.  

 Jane Doe No. 1 was first interviewed by the police on February 11, 2008, after her 

mother called the police about the molestation.  Jane Doe No. 1 had been visiting with 

appellant when the police came to interview her.  Appellant told her not to tell the police 

anything or he would go to jail.  Jane Doe No. 1, who was scared and confused, told the 

officer that appellant had not touched her.  A few weeks later, when she was interviewed at 

the children‟s interview center, she told the truth because she knew it was the “right thing” 

to do.  

 On March 3, 2008, a doctor examined Jane Doe No. 1.  She told the doctor her 

father had first started touching her inappropriately beginning when she was five or six and 

that it had last happened in February 2008.  The doctor reported that Jane Doe No. 1 had a 

white area of probable scar tissue between her vagina and anus.  The doctor was able to see 

one and a half inches into her vagina, as compared to at most a half-inch in a typical girl 

her age.  The doctor concluded the exam results offered definitive evidence of prior 

vaginal penetration consistent with the history given by Jane Doe No. 1.  The doctor 

explained that physical evidence is found in only 10 percent of alleged sexual assault cases 

and that Jane Doe No. 1‟s results fell into the fewer than two percent of all cases in which 

there are definitive findings of prior penetration.  
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Appellant’s Statements to Police 

 A police officer conducted a videotaped interview of appellant on April 14, 2008.  

Appellant waived his Miranda rights at the outset of the interview.  The videotape was 

played for the jury.  Initially, appellant denied the victims‟ allegations.  He claimed they 

were fabricating the allegations in response to his attempt to get custody of Jane Doe No. 1 

and because he had caught Lisa and her older daughters stealing some of his belongings.  

He also claimed family members were pushing Jane Doe No. 1 into making accusations 

against him.  

 During the course of the interview, appellant eventually admitted that the 

allegations against him were true.  He stated he never touched his nieces and that the only 

children he had touched inappropriately were Lisa‟s daughters.  He admitted that he had 

once asked Jane Doe No. 1 to touch him “down there,” and “that‟s where it started.”  He 

stated that the first inappropriate conduct with Jane Doe No. 2 and Jane Doe No. 3 was on 

an occasion when he was in the bathtub and they came into the room to talk to him.  

According to appellant, they were curious about his penis so he let them look at it.  

 Appellant admitted he told Jane Doe No. 1 that he would go to prison if she told her 

mother or anyone else.  He also stated he only had sex with Jane Doe No. 2 on one 

occasion, claiming it “was never [Jane Doe No. 2] hardly.  It was just [Jane Doe No. 3].”  

Defense Case 

 Timothy Bedgood was an Antioch police officer as of February 2008.  He testified 

at trial regarding his response to Lisa‟s initial report of molestation.  Although he did not 

have any independent recollection of the case, his report indicated he interviewed the 

victims on February 11, 2008.  The defense played his audiotaped interviews with the 

victims.  In the audiotaped interviews played for the jury, Jane Doe No. 1 denied any 

inappropriate touching by her father and Jane Doe No. 3 denied having anal or oral sex 

with him.  Bedgood admitted that after taking the initial report from Lisa, he called 

appellant, who was with Jane Doe No. 1, and asked them to meet him at Jane Doe No. 3‟s 

workplace.  Jane Doe No. 3 had already returned to Lisa‟s home, so Bedgood placed Jane 

Doe No. 1 in his patrol car and asked appellant to follow him to Lisa‟s home.  Bedgood 
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admitted that appellant was present outside Lisa‟s home during the initial interview with 

the victims.   

 A number of people who were either related to appellant, had rented a room to him, 

or had lived with him testified that they had not seen appellant acting inappropriately 

toward Jane Doe No. 1, Jane Doe No. 2, or Jane Doe No. 3.  According to some of the 

defense witnesses, Jane Doe No. 1 never acted nervous or fearful around appellant and, in 

fact, was sad and upset when it was time to return to her mother‟s home.  

DISCUSSION 

I. The Convictions for Aggravated Sexual Assault of a Child Are Not Barred by the 

Statute of Limitations. 

 The jury found appellant guilty in counts 32, 37, 57, and 58 of aggravated sexual 

assault of a child under the age of 14 and more than 10 years younger than appellant.  

(§ 269, subd. (a)(1) & (3).)  In the information, the district attorney alleged that the 

conduct giving rise to counts 32, 37, 57, and 58 occurred between the following dates:  

April 1996 to April 1998 (count 32), August 1997 to August 1999 (count 37), August 1997 

to August 1998 (count 57), and August 1998 to August 1999 (count 58).  

 Appellant contends that a 10-year statute of limitations applies to a violation of 

section 269 for aggravated sexual assault upon a child.  Based on his contention that the 

applicable limitations period is 10 years, appellant makes three related arguments.  First, 

he contends counts 32 and 57 are subject to dismissal as a matter of law because the 

conduct giving rise to those charges occurred more than 10 years before the district 

attorney commenced the prosecution.  Second, he argues the court erred in failing to 

instruct the jury on the statute of limitations applicable to the charged counts of aggravated 

sexual assault upon a child.  Third, he claims his trial counsel‟s failure to request adequate 

jury instructions on the applicable statute of limitations constituted ineffective assistance 

of counsel.  

 As we explain, a prosecution for a violation of section 269 may be commenced at 

any time.  Because the predicate for appellant‟s statute of limitations arguments is 

incorrect, his claims of error necessarily fail. 
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 The scheme governing criminal statutes of limitations is found in sections 799 

through 805.  The Legislature overhauled the entire scheme in 1984 with the intent of 

establishing a more cohesive and consistent approach that bases the length of the 

limitations statute on the seriousness of the crime.  (People v. Turner (2005) 134 

Cal.App.4th 1591, 1594.)   

 As specified in section 799, certain crimes may be prosecuted at any time, including 

offenses “punishable by death or by imprisonment in the state prison for life or for life 

without the possibility of parole, or for the embezzlement of public money . . . .”  (Italics 

added.)  For purposes of determining the applicable limitations period for a particular 

crime, “[a]n offense is deemed punishable by the maximum punishment prescribed by 

statute for the offense, regardless of the punishment actually sought or imposed.”  (§ 805, 

subd. (a).) 

 A violation of section 269 is punishable by a state prison term of 15 years to life.  

(§ 269, subd. (b).)  Therefore, a straightforward application of section 799 leads to the 

conclusion that a violation of section 269 may be prosecuted at any time.  

 Appellant relies on section 801.1 to support his claim that a 10-year statute of 

limitations applies to a violation of section 269.  Subdivision (b) of section 801.1 provides 

in relevant part that “prosecution for a felony offense described in subdivision (c) of 

Section 290 shall be commenced within 10 years after commission of the offense.”  

Section 290, subdivision (c) lists the crimes for which sex offender registration is required.  

According to appellant, because section 269 is one of the offenses listed in section 290, 

subdivision (c), a 10-year statute of limitations applies.  

 Appellant‟s argument ignores section 803.6, subdivision (a), which provides:  “If 

more than one time period described in this chapter applies, the time for commencing an 

action shall be governed by that period that expires the latest in time.”  Sections 799 and 

801.1, subdivision (b), when read in isolation, both apply to a violation of section 269.  

However, when the rule contained in section 803.6, subdivision (b) is applied, section 799 

supersedes the 10-year limitation in section 801.1 because it provides for commencement 

of a prosecution at any time. 
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 Appellant claims section 799 is inapplicable because the 15-to-life sentence 

imposed for a violation of section 269 does not qualify as imprisonment in the state prison 

for life.  We disagree.  Appellant‟s argument appears to be that the term “life sentence” is a 

term of art, citing section 3046 for the proposition that a prisoner who receives a life 

sentence may be paroled and therefore does not necessarily serve his entire life in prison.  

However, section 799 by its plain terms applies to crimes punishable by life sentences with 

the possibility of parole as well as to those punishable by life sentences without the 

possibility of parole.  (See § 799 [applies to “imprisonment in the state prison for life or for 

life without the possibility of parole”]; see also Cal. Law Revision Com. com., 50 pt. 1 

West‟s Ann. Pen. Code (2008 ed.) foll. § 799, p. 247 [“no limitation period for . . . crimes 

punishable by life imprisonment (with or without the possibility of parole)”].)  Thus, a 15-

years-to-life sentence qualifies as life imprisonment within the meaning of section 799, 

even though a person who receives such a sentence may eventually qualify for parole if 

found suitable. 

 Appellant also argues that section 799 applies only to the crimes of murder, 

aggravated kidnapping, and embezzlement of public money.  As support for this argument, 

appellant cites to Law Revision Commission Comments relating to the 1984 revision of 

section 799.  Appellant‟s interpretation of section 799 is incorrect.  First, by its plain terms, 

section 799 applies to all crimes punishable by death or by imprisonment in state prison for 

life, with or without the possibility of parole.  It is unnecessary to resort to legislative 

history to aid in the interpretation of section 799 because the statutory language is clear.  

(See Coalition of Concerned Communities, Inc. v. City of Los Angeles (2004) 34 Cal.4th 

733, 737.)  In any event, the Law Revision Commission Comments cited by appellant do 

not support his position.  The cited comment merely indicates that the revised statute 

preserves former law as to murder, kidnapping for ransom, and embezzlement of public 

money, but does not indicate that the statute is limited in application to those three crimes.
3
  

                                              
3
  Appellant cites the following passage from the Law Revision Commission Comments:  

“Section 799 replaces former Section 799 with the rule that there is no limitation period for 

capital crimes or crimes punishable by life imprisonment (with or without the possibility of 
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Further, elsewhere in the commentary the Law Revision Commission states that the 

revised version of section 799 applies to various crimes punishable by death or life 

imprisonment other than the three offenses cited by appellant.  (Cal. Law Revision Com. 

com., 50 pt. 1 West‟s Ann. Pen. Code (2008 ed.) foll. § 799, p. 247 [section 799 applies to 

treason, train wrecking, and procuring execution by perjury, among others].) 

 In his reply brief, appellant urges that we apply the rule of lenity to give him the 

benefit of a 10-year statute of limitations as to the charged violations of section 269.  That 

rule is inapplicable here.  In general, the rule of lenity gives a criminal defendant the 

benefit of the doubt as to a statute‟s application only if there are two equally reasonable 

interpretations of the same provision; the ambiguity must be egregious and incapable of 

practical resolution by resort to standard principles of statutory interpretation.  (See People 

v. Bamberg (2009) 175 Cal.App.4th 618, 629.)  Here, the language of the relevant statutes 

is unambiguous.  To the extent there is any question as to whether a 10-year statute of 

limitations applies (§ 801.1, subd. (b)) or whether an action may be commenced at any 

time (§ 799), the answer is provided by section 803.6, subdivision (a), which clearly 

establishes that the longer period applies.
4
  In effect, the rule contained in section 803.6, 

                                                                                                                                                    

parole), or for embezzlement of public money.  This rule preserves former law as to 

murder (Section 187), kidnapping for ransom (Section 209), and embezzlement of public 

money (Section 424).”  (Cal. Law Revision Com. com., 50 pt. 1 West‟s Ann. Pen. Code 

(2008 ed.) foll. § 799, p. 248.)  
4
  We observe that subdivision (b) of section 801.1 provides that a 10-year statute of 

limitations applies to sex offenses for which registration is required under section 290, 

subdivision (c), except for specific sex offenses identified in subdivision (a) of section 

801.1, “[n]otwithstanding any other limitation of time described in this chapter.”  We 

simply note that the quoted language cannot be interpreted to mean that a 10-year 

limitations period applies to crimes that could otherwise be commenced at any time under 

section 799.  Among other things, section 799 is not encompassed within the 

“notwithstanding” clause of section 801.1, subdivision (b) because it does not set forth a 

“limitation of time.”  Rather, section 799 expressly provides there is no time limit for 

commencing a prosecution of the crimes it covers.  In addition, interpreting the 

“notwithstanding” clause of section 801.1, subdivision (b) to impose a 10-year statute of 

limitations regardless of whether section 799 otherwise applies would yield the absurd 
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subdivision (a) constitutes a legislative declaration that the rule of lenity is inapplicable 

when two or more limitations periods technically apply to a particular crime. 

 Furthermore, appellant‟s proposed interpretation of the statutory scheme would 

yield absurd results.  If, as appellant suggests, section 801.1, subdivision (b) mandates 

application of a 10-year statute of limitations to all crimes listed in section 290, 

subdivision (c) that require registration as a sex offender, the list would include murder 

(§ 187) when committed during the perpetration of certain sex crimes.  In addition, a 10-

year statute of limitations would apply to kidnapping with intent to commit various sex 

offenses (§ 209), a crime that is punishable in some instances by life imprisonment without 

the possibility of parole.  (See § 209, subd. (a).)  However, a simple application of section 

799 dictates that these crimes may be prosecuted at any time.  It makes no sense to apply a 

10-year limitations period for such crimes simply because a person convicted of one of 

these crimes must register as a sex offender.  Further, it would be nonsensical to allow 

prosecution of a murder at any time except when it is committed during the perpetration of 

certain sex crimes.  By relying on the principle that the longest potentially applicable 

limitations period governs when a prosecution may be brought (§ 803.6, subd. (a)), one 

avoids the absurd result that appellant‟s interpretation would otherwise produce.   

 Because we conclude that a prosecution for a violation of section 269 may be 

commenced at any time, the convictions in counts 32 and 57 are not subject to dismissal on 

statute of limitations grounds.  Further, there was no instructional error in connection with 

the purported failure to instruct the jury on the statute of limitations applicable to section 

269.  In addition, appellant necessarily did not receive ineffective assistance of counsel as 

a result of his attorney‟s failure to request jury instructions on the statute of limitations 

applicable to section 269.  Consequently, we reject appellant‟s challenges to his 

convictions for aggravated sexual assault upon a child.  

                                                                                                                                                    

results we discuss below, such as imposing a 10-year limitations period for murder when 

committed during the perpetration of certain sex crimes. 
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II. Substantial Evidence Supports the Conviction in Count 13 of Forcible Sodomy. 

 Appellant was convicted in count 13 of forcible sodomy committed against Jane 

Doe No. 1, a violation of former section 286, subdivision (c)(2) (hereafter former section 

286(c)(2)).
5
  (Former § 286(c)(2), as amended by Stats. 2002, ch. 302, § 3.)  On appeal, he 

claims there was insufficient evidence to support the conviction of forcible sodomy.  As 

explained below, we disagree. 

 a. Facts 

 Jane Doe No. 1 testified that she had been subjected to multiple molestations 

between the ages of six and ten.  In describing one specific incident, she testified that when 

she was nine appellant came into her room and told her he was going to do something 

“different.”  Appellant put Vaseline on his penis, placed her on her stomach, got on top of 

her, and put his penis in her anus.  According to Jane Doe No. 1, it hurt “a lot.”  Even after 

she told appellant that it hurt, he continued to penetrate her anus with his penis for “a 

couple minutes,” and then told her not to tell anyone.  Jane Doe No. 1 explained that she 

did not tell anyone about the sodomy incident because appellant had previously told her 

that if she told about the molestations he would get in trouble.  

 The trial court instructed the jury on the elements of forcible sodomy.  As relevant 

here, the court instructed the jury that, in order to find appellant guilty of forcible sodomy, 

it had to find that the victim “did not consent to the act” and that appellant “accomplished 

the act by force or violence, or duress, or menace, or fear of immediate and unlawful 

bodily injury to someone.”  The court stated that “[a]n act is accomplished by force if a 

person uses enough physical force to overcome the other person‟s will.”  The court also 

defined “duress” as follows:  “ „Duress‟ means a direct or implied threat of force, violence, 

danger, hardship, or retribution that causes a reasonable person to do or submit to 

                                              
5
  The Legislature amended section 286 effective September 9, 2010.  (Stats. 2010, ch. 

219, § 6.)  As amended, section 286, subdivision (c)(2) is further subdivided into subparts 

(A) through (D).  Because appellant‟s crime of forcible sodomy was committed in the 

2006 to 2007 time period, our inquiry is focused upon the version of section 286 in effect 

at that time.  
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something that he or she would not otherwise do or submit to.  When deciding whether the 

act was accomplished by duress, consider all the circumstances, including the age of the 

female minor and the female minor‟s relationship to [appellant].”  

 In closing argument, the prosecutor emphasized that appellant did not stop the act of 

sodomy even after Jane Doe No. 1 complained that it hurt her.  The prosecutor continued:  

“Now, this is sort of one of those when you look at this issue of force, remember, for the 

sodomy and rape, we‟re just talking about force to show it‟s against the will of a child.  I 

submit to you, when you start inserting a penis into the anus of a nine-year-old little girl 

and she cries out that it hurts, I think that‟s the equivalent of against the will.  When you 

ignore that and stuff your penis in further, that‟s force.”  The prosecutor also argued that 

the jury could rely instead on duress to support the conviction:  “You don‟t even need to 

get there, because we have this duress.  And this is when she‟s nine, after repeated 

touching and violations.  . . .  So I submit under either theory, force or duress, he 

committed . . . forcible sodomy . . . .”  

 b. Analysis 

 When a judgment is challenged for lack of evidentiary support, “we must determine 

only whether, on the record as a whole, any rational trier of fact could find [the defendant] 

guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.  [Citation.]  We view the evidence in the light most 

favorable to the prosecution, and presume in support of the judgment the existence of 

every fact the trier could reasonably deduce from the evidence.  [Citation.]”  (People v. 

Griffin (2004) 33 Cal.4th 1015, 1028 (Griffin).) 

 Former section 286(c)(2) provides:  “Any person who commits an act of sodomy 

when the act is accomplished against the victim‟s will by means of force, violence, duress, 

menace, or fear of immediate and unlawful bodily injury on the victim or another person 

shall be punished in the state prison for three, six, or eight years.”  The terms “force, 

violence, duress, menace, or fear of immediate and unlawful bodily injury on the victim” 

are used in the disjunctive in former section 286(c)(2).  Thus, a conviction may be upheld 

if there is substantial evidence the act was accomplished against the victim‟s will either by 

force, violence, duress, menace, or fear of bodily harm. 
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 Appellant contends the evidence is insufficient to support his conviction for forcible 

sodomy because “there was nothing described beyond the actual sodomy that would 

suggest appellant was applying any sort of hold, or other pressure to force her into 

compliance.”  His argument rests on the premise that a conviction of forcible sodomy must 

be supported by evidence that the physical force used by the perpetrator was greater than 

or different from the force used to accomplish the sexual act itself.  This premise was 

applied in the context of forcible lewd acts on a child under age 14, a violation of section 

288, subdivision (b), in People v. Cicero (1984) 157 Cal.App.3d 465, 484 (Cicero), 

disapproved on other grounds in People v. Soto (2011) 51 Cal.4th 229, 248 & fn. 12.  In 

that case, the court held that where the child has suffered no physical harm, the prosecutor 

must prove “(1) that the defendant used physical force substantially different from or 

substantially in excess of that required for the lewd act and (2) that the lewd act was 

accomplished against the will of the victim.”  (Ibid.)  Appellant urges us to apply this same 

principle to forcible sodomy as defined in former section 286(c)(2).  We decline to do so. 

 In Griffin, supra, 33 Cal.4th 1015, our Supreme Court held that the definition of 

force developed by the Cicero court for application in forcible lewd conduct prosecutions 

did not apply to forcible rape as defined in section 261, subdivision (a)(2).  (Griffin, supra, 

33 Cal.4th at pp. 1018-1019.)  The court explained there is a considerable difference 

between forcible rape and the crime of forcible lewd conduct that is set forth in section 

288, subdivision (b)(2).  (Griffin, supra, at p. 1026.)  Section 288 is broken down into 

forcible and non-forcible lewd acts against a child under age 14.  (§ 288, subds. (a) & (b).)  

“ „Subdivisions (b) [now (b)(1)] and (a) of section 288 on their face draw a distinction 

between those lewd acts that are committed by force and those that are not.‟ ”  (Griffin, 

supra, 33 Cal.4th at p. 1026.)  The Cicero court‟s definition of “force” turned on the need 

to distinguish between forcible and non-forcible lewd acts in section 288.  According to 

the Supreme Court in Griffin, “[t]hat same distinction does not arise in the context of the 

rape statute.  The element of force in forcible rape does not serve to differentiate between 

two forms of unlawful sexual contact as it does under section 288.  When two adults 

engaged in consensual sexual intercourse, whether with or without physical force greater 
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than that normally required to accomplish an act of sexual intercourse, the forcible rape 

statute is not implicated. . . .  [I]n a forcible rape prosecution the jury determines whether 

the use of force served to overcome the will of the victim to thwart or resist the attack, not 

whether the use of such force physically facilitated sexual penetration or prevented the 

victim from physically resisting her attacker.”  (Griffin, supra, 33 Cal.4th at p. 1027.)  

Thus, the question for the jury in a forcible rape case is “simply whether [the] defendant 

used force to accomplish intercourse with [the victim] against her will, not whether the 

force he used overcame [the victim‟s] physical strength or ability to resist him.”  (Id. at p. 

1028.) 

 The reasoning in Griffin was extended to the forcible oral copulation component of 

aggravated sexual assault on a child in People v. Guido (2005) 125 Cal.App.4th 566 

(Guido).  The Guido court concluded that the term “force” as used in the statute defining 

forcible oral copulation (former § 288a, subd. (c)(2), now (c)(2)(A)) did not have the 

specialized meaning ascribed to it by the Cicero court.  (Guido, supra, 125 Cal.App.4th at 

pp. 575-576.)  The court observed, “Unlike sexual abuse of a child by use of force, a 

specialized definition of force is not necessary to the crime of forcible oral copulation 

because a different concept of force is not needed to distinguish between two crimes or to 

give substance to the Legislature‟s use of the term „force,‟ such as it is in section 288, 

subdivision (b)(1).”  (Guido, supra, 125 Cal.App.4th at p. 576.)  The court also noted that 

“[c]onsensual oral copulation, with or without physical force greater than that normally 

required to accomplish the act, is not unlawful except when accomplished under 

circumstances violative of section 288a.”  (Ibid.) 

 The reasoning employed in Griffin and Guido applies equally to the crime of 

forcible sodomy as defined in former section 286(c)(2) (currently codified in section 286, 

subd. (c)(2)(A)).  Sodomy is not unlawful except under the circumstances described in 

section 286.  As with forcible rape, the gravamen of the crime of forcible sodomy is a 

sexual act accomplished against the victim‟s will by means of force, violence, duress, 

menace, or fear of immediate and unlawful bodily injury.  As with forcible rape, it is only 

when the perpetrator uses force to commit the act against the other person‟s will that an 
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otherwise lawful act becomes unlawful.  Unlike the statute defining forcible lewd acts 

against a child (§ 288, subd. (b)(1)), the statute defining forcible sodomy (former 

§ 286(c)(2)) does not simply add the element of force to an act that is already a criminal 

offense.  Thus, there is no need to use a specialized definition of “force” to differentiate 

between non-forcible and forcible forms of sodomy because, absent circumstances not 

relevant here, consensual, non-forcible sodomy is not a criminal offense.
6
 

 Our conclusion is consistent with the approach taken in Guido with regard to 

forcible oral copulation.  Indeed, aside from the definition of and references to the 

particular sexual act (i.e., sodomy or oral copulation), the oral copulation statute 

considered by the Guido court—former section 288a, as amended by Stats. 2002, ch. 302, 

§ 4—is identical to the sodomy statute at issue here, former section 286, as amended by 

Stats. 2002, ch. 302, § 3.  It should come as no surprise that the meaning of “force” as that 

term is used in the forcible oral copulation statute (current § 288a, subd. (c)(2)(A)) is no 

                                              
6
  Certain forms of consensual or non-forcible sodomy do constitute a crime.  (See, e.g.,  

former § 286, subd. (c)(1), as amended by Stats. 2002, ch. 302, § 3 [making it a crime to 

engage in sodomy with a child under 14 when the victim is more than 10 years younger 

than the perpetrator].)  The existence of such offenses does not change our analysis.  

Forcible sodomy as defined in former section 286(c)(2) is distinguished from other forms 

of sodomy offenses by more than just the application of force to overcome the victim‟s 

will.  Thus, there remains no need to rely on a specialized definition of “force” to 

distinguish between forcible sodomy and other sodomy offenses.  We observe that the 

current version of section 286 makes it a crime to commit an act of sodomy against a 

person under 14 years of age when the act is accomplished against the victim‟s will by 

means of force, violence, duress, menace, or fear of immediate and unlawful bodily injury 

on the victim or another person.  (§ 286, subd. (c)(2)(B).)  One might argue that the 

application of force is what differentiates the crime in section 286, subdivision (c)(2)(B) 

from the offense in section 286, subdivision (c)(1), which makes it a crime to engage in an 

act of sodomy with a child under 14 and more than 10 years younger than the perpetrator.  

(We note the requirement that the victim be more than 10 years younger than the 

perpetrator is found only in the non-forcible crime and not in the forcible crime.)  We 

express no opinion on whether the term “force” as used in section 286, subdivision 

(c)(2)(B) has a specialized meaning.  Our holding is limited to forcible sodomy as defined 

in former section 286(c)(2), which is currently codified as section 286, subdivision 

(c)(2)(A). 
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different from the term‟s meaning in the forcible sodomy statute (former § 286(c)(2), 

current § 286, subd. (c)(2)(A)). 

 For the foregoing reasons, we reject appellant‟s contention that the force used to 

commit a violation of former section 286(c)(2) must be greater than or different from the 

force used to engage in the act of sodomy.  Rather, consistent with Griffin and with the 

instruction given to the jury in this case, the prosecutor was merely required to prove that 

the act of sodomy was accomplished by enough physical force to overcome the victim‟s 

will.  (Griffin, supra, 33 Cal.4th at p. 1028.) 

 Here, the jury could have reasonably concluded that appellant‟s act of positioning 

himself on top of Jane Doe No. 1 and refusing to stop when she told him he was hurting 

her combined to constitute the requisite amount of force to overcome her will, bearing in 

mind that Jane Doe No. 1 was a nine-year old girl at the time and appellant was described 

as a very large man weighing 290 pounds.  We therefore reject appellant‟s challenge to the 

sufficiency of the evidence on the ground there was insufficient evidence of force. 

 Furthermore, even if the evidence of force were insufficient to support a conviction 

for forcible sodomy, there was nonetheless sufficient evidence to show that appellant used 

duress to overcome the victim‟s will.  As noted above, the court instructed the jury with 

the definition of duress and the prosecutor specifically relied on a duress theory as an 

independent basis supporting the forcible sodomy conviction.  “Duress” includes “ „ “a 

direct or implied threat of . . . hardship or retribution sufficient to coerce a reasonable 

person of ordinarily sensibilities to . . . perform an act which otherwise would not have 

been performed . . . .” ‟  [Citation.]”  (People v. Perez (2010) 182 Cal.App.4th 231, 243; 

see also People v. Schulz (1992) 2 Cal.App.4th 999, 1005.)  “Duress can arise from various 

circumstances, including the relationship between the defendant and the victim and their 

relative ages and sizes.  [Citations.]  „Where the defendant is a family member and the 

victim is young, . . . the position of dominance and authority of the defendant and his 

continuous exploitation of the victim‟ is relevant to the existence of duress.  [Citation.]”  

(People v. Schulz, supra, at p. 1005.) 
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 In this case, Jane Doe No. 1‟s father subjected her to continuous acts of sexual 

molestation when she was between the ages of six and ten.  He told her that she should not 

tell anyone about the molestation because he could go to prison.  On this particular 

occasion, he put her on her stomach, got on top of her, and penetrated her anus with his 

penis.  He continued to sodomize her even though she complained that it hurt.  Under the 

circumstances, appellant “took advantage not only of his psychological dominance as an 

adult authority figure, but also of his physical dominance to overcome her resistance to 

molestation.  This qualifies as duress.  [Citations.]”  (People v. Shulz, supra, 2 Cal.App.4th 

at p. 1005.) 

 In sum, there was substantial evidence to demonstrate that appellant committed 

forcible sodomy against Jane Doe No. 1 by both force and duress, either of which would 

be sufficient to uphold the conviction. 

III. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse its Discretion in Excluding Impeachment 

Evidence. 

 Appellant claims he was denied the right to impeach the credibility of a key 

prosecution witness with evidence that she had engaged in a crime of moral turpitude.  We 

find no error in excluding the evidence. 

 a. Facts 

 The prosecutor moved in limine to exclude evidence of crimes involving moral 

turpitude alleged to have been committed by Jane Doe No. 2 and her mother, Lisa.  As to 

Jane Doe No. 2, the prosecutor claimed that most of the incidents, which primarily 

involved arrests for theft (§ 484), did not result in convictions.  With regard to Lisa, the 

prosecutor claimed she had been placed on diversion after being arrested for theft in 2007.  

The prosecutor stated in its written motion that Lisa had successfully completed diversion 

and asked the court to preclude the defense from referring to the arrest or diversion 

resolution.  

 The court permitted the defense to cross-examine Jane Doe No. 2 about a 

shoplifting conviction she had suffered but otherwise ruled the defense was prohibited 

from referring to arrests of Jane Doe No. 2 that had not resulted in a conviction.  As to 
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Lisa, the court ruled it was not inclined to allow her to be impeached with evidence of her 

arrest for petty theft.  The court observed that a diversion for a theft arrest in Contra Costa 

County does not result in a conviction or in the defendant “admit[ting] anything.”   

 Appellant‟s trial counsel moved the court to reconsider its ruling limiting cross-

examination of Lisa and Jane Doe No. 2.  Defense counsel relied upon a police report 

regarding an incident that occurred on September 7, 2007, in which Lisa and Jane 

Doe No. 2 reportedly conspired to shoplift items totaling $405.30 from a Winco store.  

Counsel claimed that “[t]his incident is evidence that Lisa and [Jane Doe No. 2] have 

engaged in a criminal conspiracy in the past, engaged in criminal conduct together and 

engaged in morally turpitudinous conduct.”  The court denied the motion to reconsider, 

reasoning as follows:  “I think allowing some implication that the jury might draw off of 

the fact that the mother and the daughters participated in some sort of theft together as also 

suggesting that they are now falsifying information about Mr. Hale together in a similar 

sort of conspiracy, to me, under [Evidence Code section] 352, would be a significant 

distortion of the facts of this case, especially to the extent that it would suggest that that 

conspiracy somehow resulted in Jane Doe No. 1 and Jane Doe No. 3 also falsifying similar 

information where there is no evidence of that fact.”  The court continued, “I think trying 

to suggest that there is some kind of criminal conspiracy, organized gang of thieves, goes 

way beyond what this evidence suggests and I think it would confuse the issues with this 

jury under [Evidence Code section] 352 to allow that implication to this case at this time.”   

 b. Analysis 

 Appellant‟s trial counsel sought to impeach Lisa‟s credibility with evidence that she 

had committed petty theft, a misdemeanor.   (See §§ 486, 487, 490.)  A witness in a 

criminal case may be impeached with evidence of prior misdemeanor conduct that 

involves moral turpitude.  (People v. Lopez (2005) 129 Cal.App.4th 1508, 1523; see also 

People v. Clark (2011) 52 Cal.4th 856, 931.)  Petty theft is considered a crime of moral 

turpitude for purposes of impeachment.  (People v. Waldecker (1987) 195 Cal.App.3d 

1152, 1156.)  The court retains discretion under Evidence Code section 352 to exclude 

impeachment evidence when its probative value is substantially outweighed by its 
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potential for prejudice, confusion, or undue consumption of time.  (People v. Sapp (2003) 

31 Cal.4th 240, 289.) 

 “On appeal, an Evidence Code section 352 ruling is subject to the deferential abuse 

of discretion standard of review.  [Citation.]  Only if the record shows an exercise of 

discretion in an arbitrary, capricious, or patently absurd manner that caused a manifest 

miscarriage of justice will an Evidence Code section 352 ruling be overturned.  [Citation.]”  

(People v. Ybarra (2008) 166 Cal.App.4th 1069, 1081.)  When the witness subject to 

impeachment is not the defendant, the factors the trial court should most prominently 

consider in exercising its discretion include whether the prior misconduct reflects on the 

witness‟s honesty and is near or remote in time.  (People v. Clair (1992) 2 Cal.4th 629, 

654.)  “[A]dditional considerations may apply when evidence other than felony 

convictions is offered for impeachment.  In general, a misdemeanor—or any other conduct 

not amounting to a felony—is a less forceful indicator of immoral character or dishonesty 

than is a felony.  Moreover, impeachment evidence other than felony convictions entails 

problems of proof, unfair surprise, and moral turpitude evaluation which felony 

convictions do not present.  Hence, courts may and should consider with particular care 

whether the admission of such evidence might involve undue time, confusion, or prejudice 

which outweighs its probative value.‟  [Citation.]”  (People v. Cloyd (1997) 54 

Cal.App.4th 1402, 1408.) 

 The Attorney General disputes that Lisa was ever actually convicted of petty theft, 

arguing that a diversion resolution results in a dismissal of the charges at the end of the 

period of diversion if the defendant performs satisfactorily.  (See § 1001.7.)  According to 

the prosecutor‟s written motion in limine, Lisa successfully completed diversion, thus 

suggesting that the petty theft charge was ultimately dismissed.  Appellant has failed to 

point to any evidence to the contrary.  The Attorney General relies on the principle that 

“evidence of mere arrests is inadmissible [for purposes of impeachment] because it is more 

prejudicial than probative.  [Citations.]”  (People v. Lopez, supra, 129 Cal.App.4th at 

p. 1523.)  Appellant admits the record is not clear as to whether Lisa actually suffered a 

conviction, but he claims the critical point is that admission to a diversion program 
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requires an admission of guilt.  He does not cite to any evidence that Lisa admitted her 

guilt or entered a guilty plea but instead cites to a case characterizing diversion as a “guilty 

plea” and resolution in the form of a specialized form of probation.  (See People v. 

Orihuela (2004) 122 Cal.App.4th 70, 72-73.)  Notably, the case cited by appellant relates 

to diversion for drug-related offenses.  The trial judge in this case distinguished drug 

offense diversion, which requires a plea, from diversion in petty theft cases.  Based on the 

judge‟s understanding of the practice in the Contra Costa County, a person placed on 

diversion for shoplifting does not admit anything.  

 The record available to this court is inadequate to demonstrate that Lisa was ever 

convicted of petty theft or that she even admitted the charge before being referred to 

diversion.  Thus, as a threshold matter, we are inclined to agree with the Attorney General 

that there is little more than an arrest for misdemeanor theft to substantiate appellant‟s 

claim that Lisa had a dishonest character. 

 Further, while the court had discretion to admit evidence of the underlying conduct 

even without a conviction (see People v. Ayala (2000) 23 Cal.4th 225, 273), the court 

properly found that the minimal probative value of the evidence was outweighed by the 

danger of undue prejudice, undue consumption of time, and misleading the jury.  Allowing 

the evidence would have likely necessitated a trial within a trial regarding the shoplifting 

incident.  Although the conduct, if established, would have demonstrated moral turpitude, 

it would have been minimally probative.  As the court explained, the fact that Lisa had 

been involved in shoplifting with Jane Doe No. 2 did not have any logical connection to 

appellant‟s theory that Lisa conspired with not only Jane Doe No. 2—but also Jane Does 

No. 1 and No. 3—to fabricate sexual abuse allegations against appellant.  Under the 

circumstances, the court did not abuse its discretion by excluding the evidence. 

 Even if the court did err in excluding the evidence, any error was harmless.  The 

parties dispute whether the harmless error analysis is governed by People v. Watson (1956) 

46 Cal.2d 818, or by Chapman v. California (1967) 386 U.S. 18.  We need not resolve the 

dispute, because any claimed error was harmless under either standard.  The evidence of 

Lisa‟s shoplifting had little bearing on the theory that she had conspired with her daughters 
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to fabricate the allegations.  Lisa‟s participation in a shoplifting incident with Jane Doe 

No. 2 did not tend to show that Jane Doe No. 1 and Jane Doe No. 3 were inclined to 

conspire with their mother to fabricate allegations against appellant.  Moreover, the person 

who had allegedly conspired with Lisa to commit a petty theft—Jane Doe No. 2—only 

testified to one incident of rape by appellant, thus diminishing the likelihood she was 

conspiring to falsely accuse him.  Jane Doe No. 1 and Jane Doe No. 3 each testified that 

appellant had sexually abused them for a period of years.  The physical evidence 

corroborated Jane Doe No. 1‟s allegations.  Most importantly, appellant admitted that he 

raped both Jane Doe No. 1 and Jane Doe No. 3.  In addition, his description of how the 

victimization began with each of the victims was consistent with the victims‟ testimony. 

 In sum, the evidence against appellant, including the victims‟ testimony, the 

physical corroboration, and appellant‟s admissions, was overwhelming.  Any error in 

failing to allow the jury to hear remotely probative evidence of Lisa‟s involvement with 

Jane Doe No. 2 in a shoplifting incident was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. 

IV. Appellant Has Not Established that the Prosecutor Committed Prejudicial 

Misconduct.  

 Appellant contends the prosecutor committed pervasive misconduct during closing 

argument that abridged appellant‟s right to due process and a fair trial.  Specifically, he 

claims the prosecutor (1) appealed to the jury‟s passions and prejudices, (2) denigrated 

defense counsel, (3) attacked appellant‟s character, (4) vouched for a prosecution witness, 

and (5) mischaracterized the evidence. We address these claims in turn after setting forth 

the legal framework that guides our analysis. 

 “A prosecutor‟s conduct violates the Fourteenth Amendment to the federal 

Constitution when it infects the trial with such unfairness as to make the conviction a 

denial of due process.  Conduct by a prosecutor that does not render a criminal trial 

fundamentally unfair is prosecutorial misconduct under state law only if it involves the use 

of deceptive or reprehensible methods to attempt to persuade either the trial court or the 

jury.  Furthermore, and particularly pertinent here, when the claim focuses upon comments 

made by the prosecutor before the jury, the question is whether there is a reasonable 
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likelihood that the jury construed or applied any of the complained-of remarks in an 

objectionable fashion.  [Citation.]”  (People v. Morales (2001) 25 Cal.4th 34, 44.)   A 

prosecutor is afforded wide latitude during closing argument.  (People v. Williams (1997) 

16 Cal.4th 153, 221.)  “ „ “The argument may be vigorous as long as it amounts to fair 

comment on the evidence, which can include reasonable inferences, or deductions to be 

drawn therefrom.  [Citations.]  It is also clear that counsel during summation may state 

matters not in evidence, but which are common knowledge or are illustrations drawn from 

common experience, history or literature.”  [Citation.]  “A prosecutor may „vigorously 

argue his case and is not limited to “Chesterfieldian politeness” ‟ [citation], and he may 

„use appropriate epithets . . . . ‟ ” ‟  [Citation.]”  (Ibid.) 

 A. Appealing to Sympathy and Prejudice 

 At the beginning of the prosecutor‟s closing argument, the prosecutor thanked the 

jurors for their service and then made the following comment: 

“[Prosecutor]:  . . . Because even in cases like this where there’s absolutely no doubt 

as to the defendant’s guilt - - 

“[Defense counsel]:  Objection. 

“THE COURT:  Overruled. 

“[Prosecutor]:  - - a defendant in our society is still entitled to a jury trial.  He is 

entitled to have the members of the community, you folks, to decide his guilt.”   

(Italics added.) 

 The prosecutor then referred to the victims as having been violated over and over 

again by appellant and showed the jury photographs of the victims as young girls: 

“[Prosecutor]:  But I‟d like to introduce you to the real [Jane Doe No. 3], the real 

[Jane Doe No. 2], and the real [Jane Doe No. 1].  The three little girls that he 

violated.  I‟m going to show you what‟s been marked as Plaintiff‟s Exhibit[s] 2 and 

3.  I know you folks haven‟t seen these yet.  Two has [Jane Doe No. 3] on your 

view in the upper left-hand corner and [Jane Doe No. 2] in the upper right hand 

corner.  This is [Jane Doe No. 1]. [¶] . . . [¶] These are the real victims.  These are 
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the little girls that he violated over and over again.  What he did to these little girls 

is unjustified.”  

 The prosecutor continued by characterizing appellant as continuing to victimize the 

girls by forcing them to testify, as follows: 

“[Prosecutor]:  The reality, ladies and gentlemen, is, as you‟ve heard in this trial, 

child molesters don‟t molest children in front of other people. [¶] So what we have 

is the testimony of the victim.  The people that have been victimized by that man, 

have to walk through that door, get on that witness stand, and be victimized again, 

to confront him, to tell you what happened.”  (Italics added.)  

 The prosecutor then referred in closing argument to the limitations on evidence in 

sexual molestation trials.  The prosecutor explained that physical evidence often is lacking, 

that there are delays in reporting allegations, and that the testimony is typically generalized 

because the victims were repeatedly molested over a period of years and could not be 

expected to specify everything that happened or the particular circumstances.  The 

prosecutor continued: 

“[Prosecutor]:  . . . It’s important that you understand this reality and the limitations 

on evidence, because I guarantee you he does.  He’s hiding behind those limitations 

of evidence to avoid the very thing I’m asking you to do here today - - 

“[Defense counsel]:  Objection. 

“THE COURT:  Overruled. 

“[Prosecutor]:  - - which is to convict him of all the charged offenses.  [¶]  And I 

provided you with some tools here in court to use in your deliberations. 

“THE COURT:  I just want to make sure, when you said “he,” I assume you 

referenced the “he” to the defendant, not [defense counsel]. 

“[Prosecutor]:  Definitely not [defense counsel].  I‟m talking about the defendant, 

the child molester. 

“THE COURT:  Okay.  I‟ll allow that argument.  Go ahead. 

“[Defense counsel]:  Same objection. 

“THE COURT.  Overruled.  That one is overruled.”  (Italics added.)  
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 Appellant contends the cited portions of the prosecutor‟s comments were improper 

because they appealed to the emotions and sympathies of the jury by repeatedly suggesting 

the trial was a mere formality and that appellant was hiding behind rules of evidence in a 

manner that allowed him to victimize the girls once again.  We disagree. 

 The prosecutor was simply explaining that our legal system affords all defendants 

the right to a jury trial, even if the evidence overwhelmingly proves the defendant‟s guilt.  

Similarly, the prosecutor was explaining the unique evidentiary limitations in these types 

of cases—that the victims‟ testimony is often uncorroborated and generalized, that 

physical evidence is often lacking, and the victims delay reporting—and suggesting that 

those limitations should not prevent the jury from finding the allegations proved beyond a 

reasonable doubt.  Contrary to appellant‟s characterization of the prosecutor‟s argument, 

the prosecutor was not suggesting the “technical rules of evidence were baloney”; he was 

merely explaining to the jury that it should not draw adverse inferences from the fact that 

the victims had given generalized testimony or had initially refused to disclose the abuse.  

 Appellant cites the general proposition that the prosecutor is not permitted to “skew 

the procedural protections and presumptions that are intended to protect an accused,” but 

he has pointed to nothing specific in the prosecutor‟s comments that a jury might construe 

as an attempt to denigrate those protections.  The prosecutor merely explained that those 

procedural protections extend to all defendants, but that those protections, along with 

evidentiary limitations specific to child molestation cases, did not prevent the jury from 

finding guilt in an appropriate case. 

 Appellant also relies on the general proposition that it is improper to “make 

arguments that are designed to inflame a jury‟s sympathies, prejudices and emotions,” but 

he again fails to point to any particular statement that would improperly inflame a jury‟s 

sympathies and prejudices.  For example, when the prosecutor referred to Jane Does Nos. 

1, 2, and 3 as “the real victims,” he was commenting on already admitted evidence—

photographs of the victims as they looked at the time of the offenses.  A comparison of 

appellant‟s size to that of the victims as of the time of the offenses was clearly relevant to 

the jury‟s assessment of evidence bearing on the use of force or duress, and it was 
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reasonable for the prosecutor to remind the jury that Jane Doe No. 2 and Jane Doe No. 3—

who were adults at the time of trial—were young girls at the time the offenses were 

committed.  The fact that seeing photographs of young, innocent, and victimized girls 

might generate sympathy or prejudice was a direct result of the nature of appellant‟s 

crimes and was not the result of an attempt by the prosecutor to improperly inflame the 

jury‟s passions. 

 There was also nothing improper in the prosecutor‟s effort to remind the jury that 

(1) the testimony of a child molestation victim is often the only evidence available to prove 

the allegations and (2) victims are required to face their abuser and discuss very private, 

embarrassing events in front of a group of strangers.  Further, to the extent the prosecutor 

used colorful language to describe the victims‟ courtroom testimony as a further 

victimization, the statements were within the bounds of acceptable argument.  It is well 

settled that “[p]rosecutors are permitted to make vigorous, colorful arguments with 

obvious hyperbole . . . .”  (People v. Lewis (2004) 117 Cal.App.4th 246, 259.)  We 

therefore reject appellant‟s contention that the prosecutor improperly appealed to the 

sympathies and prejudices of the jury. 

 B. Denigration of Defense Counsel 

 At the conclusion of his argument, appellant‟s trial counsel asked the jurors to 

consider whether they would want to see a video of the alleged incidents to determine for 

themselves what happened.  Defense counsel continued, “If you want to see that video, 

that‟s because you don‟t know what happened.”  Counsel pointed out that the jury was left 

to rely on testimony that was conflicting and that, “[i]f you need that video for you to 

know whether or not it happened or not, you‟ve got a reasonable doubt.”   

 The prosecutor began his rebuttal argument as follows: 

“[Prosecutor]:  I thought so.  There is no video.  Don‟t be fooled.  There is no video.  

That‟s a typical trick - - 

“[Defense counsel]:  Objection. 

“THE COURT:  Sustained. 
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“[Prosecutor]:  All right.  [¶]  Well, we talked about the limitation on evidence.  

That is ridiculous. 

“[Defense counsel]:  Objection. 

“THE COURT:  Overruled. 

“[Prosecutor]:  First off, in our society, I‟m one of those people [that] if there is a 

train wreck on TV, I want to see the video.  Not because I don‟t believe the train 

wreck happened or not [because] I don‟t believe the reporter telling me the train 

crashed.  I want to see the video because I‟m curious.  There is a big difference 

about when to see something when you are curious and the concept of reasonable 

doubt.”  (Italics added.) 

 Appellant contends the prosecutor‟s statements improperly impugned defense 

counsel.  No so.  Although it might have been misconduct to attack defense counsel 

personally or to attack his integrity (People v. Hill (1998) 17 Cal.4th 800, 832), the 

transcript reveals no such attack.  The prosecutor denounced defense counsel‟s argument 

about needing to see a videotape of the crime to prove appellant‟s crime beyond a 

reasonable doubt; he did not denounce defense counsel.  Further, the prosecutor‟s response 

was simply consistent with his previous—and proper—argument that the jury should not 

find reasonable doubt simply because of the inherent limitations on evidence used to prove 

child molestation allegations.  A prosecutor is permitted to use colorful language to 

criticize counsel‟s tactical approach.  (See People v. Stitely (2005) 35 Cal.4th 514, 559-560 

[prosecutor did not commit misconduct in telling jury “to view counsel‟s argument as a 

„ridiculous‟ attempt to allow defendant to „walk‟ free”].)  Thus, appellant has not 

demonstrated that the prosecutor‟s response to defense counsel‟s argument constituted 

misconduct. 

 C. Attack on Appellant’s Character 

 On one occasion during closing argument, the prosecutor described appellant as a 

“two-faced monster.”  Later, during his discussion of appellant‟s statements to police 

admitting the crimes, the prosecutor stated, “Now, granted, it‟s coming from the mouth of 

a monster, a pedophile, a child molester . . . .”  Appellant contends the prosecutor‟s 
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derogatory characterizations of him were improper because they constituted a plea to 

disregard the evidence and to convict him based solely on purported criminal proclivities.  

 The claim fails because the prosecutor‟s characterization of appellant was based on 

evidence at trial—not any other “propensity” evidence.  Our Supreme Court has 

consistently “upheld the use of „appropriate epithets warranted by the evidence.‟  

[Citation.]”  (People v. Sully (1991) 53 Cal.3d 1195, 1236.)  Thus, for example, in People 

v. Adcox (1988) 47 Cal.3d 207, 237, a reference to the defendant as a “cold-blooded 

murderer” was held to be proper in light of the facts.  Similarly, in People v. Edelbacher 

(1989) 47 Cal.3d 983, 1030, the court concluded the prosecutor did not commit 

misconduct in referring to a defendant as, among other things, a “snake in the jungle,” a 

“pathological liar,” and “slick,” when the prosecutor based the comments on the evidence. 

 The evidence at trial here demonstrated that appellant was a child molester and a 

pedophile, in that he raped his daughter and her half-sister over a period of 10 years.  

Indeed, Jane Doe No. 1‟s molestation was so pervasive and severe that she fell within the 

two percent of cases in which definitive physical injury can not only be detected but can be 

proved to result from sexual penetration.  Based on the evidence, it was within the bounds 

of fair argument to describe appellant as a child molester, a pedophile, and a monster.  (See 

People v. Harrison (2005) 35 Cal.4th 208, 245-246 [not misconduct to call defendant “ „a 

head hunter,‟ ” a “ „one-man gang,‟ ” and the “ „lowest common denominator and the 

complete and total essence of evil‟ ”].) 

 D. Vouching for Jane Doe No. 2 

 The prosecutor described Jane Doe No. 2 in closing argument as the “black sheep of 

the family” who had run away at age twelve and lived on the streets.  He stated she left 

after being violated by appellant on two occasions and after knowing her sisters were being 

violated.  The prosecutor then stated, “She is what she is because of [appellant] right 

there.”  

 The prosecutor continued with a reference to outcasts in movies who do something 

heroic.  He then stated: 
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“[Prosecutor]:  Let‟s face it.  [Jane Doe No. 2] is the one that did the most heroic act 

in this case.  She‟s the one that finally had the courage to take him on and start 

making comments.  She‟s the one who finally told.  She‟s the one.  That was her act 

of heroism.  That took a lot of courage and a lot of guts, especially when you‟re that 

black sheep and outcast of the family. 

“[Defense counsel]:  Objection for vouching. 

“THE COURT:  Overruled.”  

 Appellant contends the prosecutor improperly vouched for the credibility of Jane 

Doe No. 2.  There is no doubt that a “statement of supposed fact not in evidence is a highly 

prejudicial form of misconduct.”  (People v. Hall (2000) 82 Cal.App.4th 813, 818.)  

Similarly, it is misconduct for a prosecutor “ „to express his personal belief as to the 

reliability of a witness‟ ” when that expression tends to imply to the jury that the 

prosecutor possesses some information as to the witness‟s character and credibility in 

addition to the evidence presented at trial.  (People v. Perez (1962) 58 Cal.2d 229, 245-

246, disapproved on other grounds in People v. Green (1980) 27 Cal.3d 1, 32; accord 

People v. Boyd (1990) 222 Cal.App.3d 541, 571.)   

 On the other hand, a prosecutor is not precluded from expressing any comments 

about a witness‟s reliability.  A “ „prosecuting attorney has a wide range in which to state 

his views as to what the evidence shows and the conclusions to be drawn therefrom‟ 

[citation], and in his argument to the jury the prosecutor may comment upon the credibility 

of witnesses „in light of all the evidence in the case.‟  [Citations.]”  (People v. Perez, 

supra, 58 Cal.2d at p. 245.)  The critical inquiry is whether those comments are likely to be 

understood as based on matters outside the record.  (See People v. Sandoval (1992) 4 

Cal.4th 155, 184.) 

 When viewed in context, the challenged statements do not suggest the prosecutor‟s 

assessment of Jane Doe No. 2 was based on anything other than the evidence offered at 

trial.  The evidence demonstrated that, after years of secrecy, Jane Doe No. 2 finally came 

forward to disclose appellant‟s molestation, an effort that required her to discuss matters 

that were painful, embarrassing, and private.  It was reasonable for the prosecutor to 
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suggest that her actions were heroic in light of the evidence that she had been molested, 

had run away from home, lived on the streets, suffered criminal convictions, and given 

birth to a child before she was 18 years old.  Moreover, to compare her heroism to actions 

in a movie was not improper.  Counsel may state matters not in evidence that are common 

knowledge or that draw on common experience, history, or literature.  (People v. Hill, 

supra, 17 Cal.4th at p. 819.)  The prosecutor‟s statements were a fair interpretation of the 

evidence and did not constitute misconduct. 

 E. Misstatements of Fact 

 “A prosecutor engages in misconduct by misstating facts, but enjoys wide latitude 

in commenting on the evidence, including the reasonable inferences and deductions that 

can be drawn therefrom.  [Citation.]”  (People v. Hamilton (2009) 45 Cal.4th 863, 928.)  

Appellant asserts that the prosecutor committed misconduct by mischaracterizing the 

evidence or arguing facts not in evidence during closing argument.  He essentially focuses 

on three statements made by the prosecutor:  (1) that Jane Doe No. 2 ran away from home 

because of appellant, (2) that the officer who conducted the initial interviews with the 

victims did not want to write a report and simply “blew . . . off” his responsibilities, and 

(3) that the doctor who examined Jane Doe No. 1 testified that there was physical evidence 

of recent penetration.  As we explain, the prosecutor‟s statements were within the realm of 

acceptable commentary on the evidence. 

 As discussed above, the prosecutor stated that after Jane Doe No. 2 was molested 

twice by defendant and saw her sisters molested, she “chose to leave” and “ran away from 

it all.”  The prosecutor also said, “She is what she is because of [appellant].”  Appellant 

claims these statements are objectionable because Jane Doe No. 2 never testified that she 

ran away from home because of appellant‟s molestation of her and her sisters.  Appellant 

suggests there were other reasons for Jane Doe No. 2 running away from home, such as her 

mother‟s drug use and an abusive relationship between Lisa and her then-boyfriend, 

Calvin.  

 We conclude the challenged statements fairly characterized the evidence.  Jane Doe 

No. 2 testified she ran away from home because she did not feel “safe” in the home 
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because of “things that was going on.”  She later expanded on why she left instead of 

telling her mother about the abuse, responding that she chose to leave because appellant 

told her she “wouldn‟t see [her] family again if [she] told anybody or anything like that.”  

It was certainly reasonable to infer that she did not feel safe because of appellant‟s actions 

and because of her mother‟s failure to protect her and her sisters.  Further, although she did 

not explicitly state that she ran away from home as a result of appellant‟s actions, she did 

not suggest she ran away from home for the reasons proposed by appellant.  Each party 

was free to draw reasonable inferences from the fact that Jane Doe No. 2 did not feel safe, 

and while it was reasonable for defense counsel to focus on Lisa‟s failings as a mother, it 

was not unreasonable for the prosecutor to focus on appellant‟s criminal behavior. 

 Appellant also objects to statements by the prosecutor asking the jury to disregard 

the report of the Antioch police officer who first investigated the allegations, officer Tim 

Bedgood, because he “did not want to fully investigate the case” and “was too lazy to write 

a report about the charges.”  The prosecutor referred to “ex-police officer Mr. Tim 

Bedgood” as someone who had “zero recollection of this case.”  The prosecutor stated that 

the lack of recollection of something that had occurred the year before was because the 

officer “blew it off” and “didn‟t want to write a report.”  The prosecutor continued:  “You 

heard him.  A minute and a half with a ten-year old victim.  Time it.  You‟ve got the tape.  

A minute and a half.  Under seven minutes with [Jane Doe No. 3].  Before interviewing 

them, [he] has the defendant drive over to meet him at [Jane Doe No. 3‟s] work.  Bring the 

molester to the victim‟s place of work.  Really?  [¶]  And then when she‟s not there, bring 

the molester to the victim‟s house.  Have him stand outside with the ten-year-old victim 

while you go inside and interview the other two victims.”  

 At that point, defense counsel posed an objection, which the court overruled.  The 

court told the jury:  “Unless there is an egregious misstatement of the record by either 

lawyer[], I‟m not going to sustain any objection to a misstatement of the record, and here‟s 

why:  Both attorneys have a chance to argue what the record is, and you will ultimately 

decide what the evidence is. [¶] Remember I said before, what the lawyers say is not 

evidence?  You get to decide is [the prosecutor] fairly characterizing what the evidence 
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was, or is [defense counsel] fairly characterizing it?  They‟re going to be differences of 

opinion perhaps what the evidence is, and I‟m not going to intervene to tell you, well, I 

think the record is this or that, unless it‟s really a serious misrepresentation of the record.”  

Subsequently, over defense counsel‟s objection, the prosecutor suggested that officer 

Bedgood wanted the answer to be “no” to his inquiries about sexual abuse because then 

“he would have to do less work.” 

 The inferences drawn by the prosecutor about officer Bedgood‟s motivation are 

fairly supported by the evidence at trial.  The evidence demonstrated that the officer 

conducted brief interviews with the victims, that he was aware of the pending custody case 

at the time of the interviews, and that he had no independent recollection of any of the 

allegations.  Further, he brought the alleged molester to the interview location and was 

satisfied with the answers to his brief set of questions.  It was certainly reasonable for the 

prosecutor to suggest that officer Bedgood had made up his mind at the outset and 

consequently failed to do a thorough investigation.  As the trial court explained to the jury, 

defense counsel was free to draw different inferences from officer Bedgood‟s testimony 

and the content of the audiotaped interviews.  The fact that different inferences could be 

drawn, however, did not demonstrate that the prosecutor committed misconduct. 

 Finally, appellant objects to the prosecutor‟s characterization of the testimony of the 

doctor who examined Jane Doe No. 1.  In rebuttal, the prosecutor argued that defense 

counsel‟s “statement that [the doctor] said there was no evidence of recent penetration is 

false.”  After the court overruled an objection, the prosecutor stated, “What he talked about 

is that he couldn‟t tell you how many times or when, but there had to be at least one recent 

incident, in fact, he said that when he saw on his examination was completely consistent 

with [Jane Doe No. 1‟s] recitation of when the last time she had sexual intercourse with 

her father was.”  After the court overruled an objection, the trial court reiterated to the jury 

that “[t]he attorneys are allowed to argue what their interpretation of the facts is” but that 

the jury is ultimately the finder of fact.  

 Appellant objects to the prosecutor‟s statements because he claims there was no 

“medical testimony relating to recent penetrations.”  He argues that the record indicates the 
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doctor “could not tell, who, with what or when [Jane Doe No. 1‟s] vagina had been 

penetrated.”  

 A review of the evidence reveals that the prosecutor‟s characterization of the 

evidence is at least arguably correct.  The doctor testified that Jane Doe No. 1 told him in 

March 2008 that the last time appellant had sexual intercourse with her was in the 

preceding month.  The doctor opined that the results of the physical examination were 

consistent with the history given by Jane Doe No. 1.  It was not unreasonable for the 

prosecutor to infer that the doctor‟s conclusion extended to Jane Doe No. 1‟s claim of 

being penetrated within the previous month.  On cross-examination, the doctor clarified 

that he could not definitively say when Jane Doe No. 1 had suffered trauma to her vagina, 

although he did not rule out the possibility that it had occurred within weeks of the exam.   

 In response to a claim by defense counsel that there was no evidence of recent 

penetration, the prosecutor was simply clarifying that the exam results were consistent 

with a claim of recent penetration.  Although defense counsel was free to infer that the 

evidence did not definitively prove recent penetration, the prosecutor was likewise free to 

infer that the evidence was consistent with such a claim.  The prosecutor was not 

improperly referring to evidence outside the record but instead was simply drawing a 

reasonable inference from evidence presented to the jury.  Under the circumstances, we 

conclude the prosecutor did not commit misconduct.   

 F. Harmless Error 

 Even if the prosecutor committed misconduct, reversal is not required because it is 

not “ „reasonably probable that a result more favorable to the defendant would have 

occurred‟ absent the misconduct.  [Citation.]”  (People v. Welch (1999) 20 Cal.4th 701, 

753.)  Most of the challenged statements, when taken in context, were unlikely to mislead 

the jury.  Further, the trial court repeatedly admonished the jury that the attorney‟s 

statements were not evidence to be considered in their determination.  (Cf. People v. 

Montiel (1993) 5 Cal.4th 877, 914 [court‟s admonition may cure harm caused by 

prosecutorial misconduct].) 
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 In any event, the evidence at the trial amply demonstrated that appellant abused 

Jane Does Nos. 1, 2, and 3 over multiple years.  Appellant not only admitted that the 

victims‟ allegations were true, but also described incidents that corroborated their 

testimony.  The physical examination of Jane Doe No. 1 also corroborated the testimony 

that she had been subject to multiple sexual penetrations for a period of years.  In view of 

the overwhelming evidence against appellant, it is not reasonably probable the jury would 

have reached a different result absent the challenged statements made by the prosecutor. 

DISPOSITION 

 The judgment is affirmed. 

       _________________________ 

       McGuiness, P.J. 

 

 

We concur: 

 

 

_________________________ 

Pollak, J. 

 

 

_________________________ 

Jenkins, J. 
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